
Agenda for a meeting of the Regulatory and Appeals 
Committee (sitting as Trustees) to be held on Thursday, 
18 July 2019 at 1.00 pm, or on the rising of the earlier 
meeting of the Committee whichever is the later, in the 
Banqueting Hall - City Hall, Bradford 

Members of the Committee – Councillors
LABOUR CONSERVATIVE LIBERAL DEMOCRAT
Warburton
Wainwright
Amran
Watson

Ali
Brown

Reid

Alternates:
LABOUR CONSERVATIVE LIBERAL DEMOCRAT
Azam
Godwin
S Hussain
Lal

Ellis
Pollard

R Ahmed

Notes:
 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 

contacting the Agenda contact shown below.
 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed except if 

Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered by Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be respectful to the conduct of 
the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such as oral commentary) will not be 
permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes to record or film the meeting's 
proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure 
that any necessary arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken 
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded.

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the officer 
named at the foot of that agenda item.

 A legal briefing for all Members will take place at 0915 in the Banqueting Hall on the day 
of the meeting.

 Applicants, objectors, Ward Councillors and other interested persons are advised that the 
Committee may visit any of the sites that appear on this Agenda during the day of the meeting, 
without prior notification.  The Committee will then reconvene in the meeting room after any 
visits in order to determine the matters concerned. 

  At the discretion of the Chair, representatives of both the applicant(s) and objector(s) may be 
allowed to speak on a particular application for a maximum of five minutes in total. 

From: To:
Parveen Akhtar
City Solicitor
Agenda Contact: Claire Tomenson
Phone: 01274 432457
E-Mail: claire.tomenson@bradford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  ALTERNATE MEMBERS (Standing Order 34) 

The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are 
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.

2.  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)

To receive disclosures of interests from Members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest.

An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the Member during the meeting.

Notes:

(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
Standing Order 44.

3.  INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.  

Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 



should be made to the relevant Strategic or Assistant Director whose 
name is shown on the front page of the report.  

If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.  

Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.  

(Claire Tomenson - 01274 432457)

B. BUSINESS ITEMS

4.  FORMER ALLERTON LIBRARY, 2-4 GREENBANK ROAD, 
ALLERTON, BRADFORD 

Previous reference: Minute 55 (2018/19)

The Strategic Director, Corporate Resources will present a report 
(Document “H”) in respect of the proposed disposal of the former 
Allerton Library, 2- 4 Greenbank Road, Allerton, Bradford which is 
owned by a Trust of which the Council is the sole Trustee.

Recommended – 

That Option 3, a Community Asset Transfer (CAT) Lease and 
Service Level Agreement be granted to ‘Rooted In’ subject to the 
following conditions:

(i) That Heads of Terms be agreed.
(ii) That ‘Rooted In’ take over temporary responsibility for the 

building on an interim lease of up to four years.
(iii) That the Trustees and ‘Rooted In’ enter into an agreement 

for a long lease.
(iv) That a long lease be prepared and completed provided that 

the terms of the agreement for the lease are met.
(v) That a co-terminus Service Level Agreement be entered 

into to ensure ‘Rooted In’ manage the premises in a way 
that continues to support the Trust.

(vi) That updates be presented to the Trustees every two years 
in relation to how the scheme works and how charitable 
objectives are being met.

(Nigel Gillatt – 01274 434224)

1 - 36

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

 
            

 
 

Report of the Strategic Director, Corporate Resources 
to the meeting of the Regulatory and Appeals 
Committee to be held on 18 July 2019. 
 
 
 

 
 
Subject:                                                                                                        H

(Former) Allerton Library, 2-4 Greenbank Road, Allerton, Bradford BD15 
7RH 
 
 
 
 

Summary statement: 
 
The former Allerton Library is held in Trust by the Council.  
 
The Trustees’ decision is sought in relation to a proposed disposal of the Library. 
 
 
 

  
Joanne Hyde 
Strategic Director, Corporate  
Resources  
 

Portfolio:  Leader of Council and 
Corporate 
 
 

Report Contacts: 
Nigel Gillatt 
Phone: (01274) 434224 
E-mail: Nigel.Gillatt2@bradford.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 1

Agenda Item 4/



 
 

 
 

1. SUMMARY 
 

 
1.1 This is a follow up from the previous report submitted to the Council’s Regulatory and 

Appeals Committee sitting as Trustees (the Trustees) on 4 October 2018. 
 

1.2 This report seeks the decision by the Trustees in relation to the former Allerton 
Library located at 2-4 Greenbank Road, Allerton, Bradford BD15 7RH (the Library). 
 

1.3 The Library is owned by a Trust, of which the Council is the sole Trustee. The terms 
of the Trust are set out in a conveyance between Angus Hardy Rhodes and the 
Bradford Corporation dated 20 June 1916. 

 
1.4 The Library closed in August 2005 and has been empty and fallen in a poor state of 

repair since. 
 

1.5 The Trustees are asked to consider a disposal of the Library through a Community 
Asset Transfer lease or a freehold sale.  

 
 

 
2.  BACKGROUND 

 
 

2.1 The Library and adjoining land amounts to approx. 97 square meters (see Appendix 4 
for a plan showing the extent of the property).  
 
2.2 First opened in July 1916, the Library was well used but closed down because of its 
condition and it unsuitability for library purposes. A library service is currently being 
delivered from Café West.  
 
2.3 A number of complaints have been received about the deteriorating condition of the 
Library made worse by the long period of inoccupation and several road traffic accidents.  
 
2.4 A Community Asset Transfer (CAT) (i.e. long lease) application was received from a 
local charity Kidz Klub Allerton now called Rooted In in November 2017.  
 
2.5 The report which was presented to the Trustees in October 2018 looking at two 
options: 1) to sell the Library with the proceeds re-invested back into the community and 
2) not to sell. The Trustees resolved to allow Rooted In time to prepare a business plan to 
restore the Library and bring it back to community use.  
 
 
3.  ROOTED IN BUSINESS PLAN 
 
3.1 Rooted In have provided a business plan (see attached as a Appendix 2, Not for 
Publication Document). The potential benefits are:  
 

 Bring back to life an important landmark building. 
 Provide training and employment through a social enterprise in the form of a 

bakery/café. 
 Office space for community development work and project support delivered by 

Rooted In. 

Page 2



 
 

 
 

 Co-working and incubator space for local start up businesses and voluntary led 
groups. 

 
3.2 The operational part of the business plan (particularly the cashflow) raises some 
concern as most of the potential funding identified by Rooted In is external and subject to 
successful grant application. 
 
3.3 An important pre-requisite of applying to an external funder (e.g. HLF) is having a 
long-term lease, usually in excess of 25 years, secured.  
 
3.4 Below is a summary of the main concerns:  
 

 Fundraising is required for preparatory costs. 
 There is no current capital for any of the works, 100% of the costs are to come 

from third parties, so the whole project is at risk. Proof of funding would be 
required before a long lease is granted, possibly using an agreement for lease 
before issuing an actual lease. The business case does not have any provision to 
repay loans. 

 Given the condition of the building, the refurbishment costs appear to be on the 
low side. 

 The cost detail is currently insufficient and subject to further surveys and cost 
estimates. 

 Planning permission would be required for conversion to a bakery/café with offices 
above, which may not be forthcoming on the busy junction with no car parking and 
restrictions on on-road parking. Guidelines on hot food takeaways near schools 
may be material.  

 The rents achievable seem to be optimistic. 
 
3.5 Rooted In’s statement of purpose is to act as a resource for individuals and 
families living in Allerton and Neighbouring area by providing advice and assistance and 
organising programmes of physical educational and other activities as a mean of a) 
advancing in life and helping individuals and families by developing their skills, capacities 
and capabilities to enable to participate in society as independent, mature and 
responsible individuals, and b) providing recreational and leisure time activity in the 
interests of social welfare for people living in the area of benefit who have need by reason 
of their youth, age, infirmity or disability, poverty or social and economic circumstances 
with a view to improving the conditions of life of such persons. 
 
 
4. The Trust 
 
4.1  As provided in the Conveyance dated 29 June 2016, the charitable purpose of the 
gifted property is to “be preserved for and dedicated to the recreation, instruction and the 
benefit of the public <…> and for other good causes and considerations”.  
 
The Conveyance goes on to say that the trust should be “preserved… as a Public Library 
and Reading Room for the recreation, instruction and benefit of the public in such manner 
and subject to such regulations in all respects as the Corporation may from time to time 
think proper provided always that the Corporation may if they deem it desirable demolish 
the existing building and create another building in substitution…”, and that the 
Corporation will “…forever hereafter support and maintain the hereditaments hereby 
granted or any other buildings erected thereon in substitution… as and for the purpose of 
a public Library and Reading Room…”. 

Page 3



 
 

 
 

 
4.2 None of the proposals outlined below support the Trust objectives in full, each 
nevertheless upholding the Trust objectives in part.  
 
4.3 The Trustees are asked to make the judgement regarding which of the options below 
serves the charitable objectives in the best way.  
 
 
5. OPTIONS 
 
There are three options for the Trustees to consider: these are set out below with a brief 
summary of the advantages and disadvantages to the Trustees of each. 
 
Due to the condition of the building, granting a short term standalone Service Level 
Agreement is not feasible option. 
 
Options Description Advantages Disadvantages 
Option 

1 
No change to 
the existing 
arrangements, 
i.e. Library 
remains 
vacant 

In the short term, requires the 
least resource as the property 
is not been invested in 
(currently only insurance is 
being paid). 
 

Does not meet the purpose of 
the Charity. 
 
The deteriorating building is a 
hazard that blights the 
neighbourhood, which goes 
against the benefactor’s wishes. 
 
The Library brings no benefit to 
the local community in its 
current state of disrepair.  
 

Option 
2 

Sell the Library A straightforward solution for 
a building in poor state of 
repair.  
 
Reinvestment of the 
proceeds in accordance with 
the Trust’s objectives.  
 

May not be supported by local 
residents who may be fond of 
the Library as a local landmark 
and may like to see it restored. 
 
The anticipated sale price would 
be insufficient to construct an 
alternative property to support 
the Charity’s objectives. 
 

Option 
3 

Grant a CAT 
Lease and 
Service Level 
Agreement  

Reflects the aspirations of a 
local community group who 
would like to see the Library 
restored and serving the local 
people.  
 
 

The business plan presented 
raises doubts about its viability 
and deliverability within a 
reasonable timeframe for the 
reasons described in section 3. 
 
 

 
 
6. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 
6.1 An independent valuation of the land has been undertaken on behalf of the Trustees 
in line with the Charity Commission requirements. A copy of the report is attached as a 
Background Document (Appendix 5). The property does not have a rental value a further 

Page 4



 
 

 
 

report to confirm this has not been commissioned as the cost of the report is 
disproportionate to the value of the disposal.  
 
6.2 Under the terms of Section 119 (1) (c) of the Charities Act 2011 the Trustees have to 
determine if they are satisfied, having considered the terms of the valuation report, that 
the terms on which the disposition is proposed to be made are the best terms that can 
reasonably be obtained for the charity. 
 
6.3 If Option 3 a CAT lease at a peppercorn rental is to be considered, the Trustees need 
to decide whether the likely community benefits from a long lease with a co-terminus 
Service Level Agreement to ensure Rooted In manage the property in the interest of the 
Trust is the best outcome achievable, i.e. whether the community benefit outweighs a 
potential capital receipt achievable upon a sale or a long lease at full rental value. 
 
6.4 A Service Level Agreement should include provision that Rooted In must report back 
to Estates and Property every two years, who will then provide an update to the Trustees. 
 
 
7. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
7.1 The Trustees must consider the proposals in terms of what is in the best interests of 
the charity. The Charity Commission guidance advises that:  
 
“Acting in the Charity’s best interests means always doing what the Trustees decide will 
best enable the Charity to carry out its purposes, both now and for the future”.   
 
7.2 With regards to the option to sell, the Trustees will need to be satisfied that the price 
likely to be achieved is the best that can reasonably be obtained as suggested by the 
view of the independent surveyor. The Trustees are also asked to take into account the 
significance of the asset to the local community, as described in Rooted In business plan.  
 
7.3 If considering the proposed Rooted In business plan, the Trustees will need to be 
satisfied that their proposed plan is viable and need to consider how compatible the aims 
of the Rooted In are with those of the Trust. 
 
7.4 Rooted In provide advice, assistance and education to help develop capabilities and 
provide recreation and leisure. The Trustees need to decide if in the current age that this 
is ‘close enough’ to the charitable gift for the building to be preserved for recreation 
instruction and leisure. 
 
7.5 A CAT lease to Rooted In does not preserve the premises as a Public Library and 
Reading Room but the premises are no longer fit for this purpose and the service 
provided elsewhere. 
 
7.6 If a CAT Lease is to be recommended, the Trustees are asked to consider if this 
should be preceded by an interim lease to pass the responsibility of running the building 
to Rooted In as soon as possible. 
 
7.7 An Agreement for lease should also be considered to precede a lease, whereby the 
granting of the CAT Lease and Service Level Agreement is conditional on Rooted In 
attaining sufficient funding to complete the redevelopment, attain all necessary consents 
and permissions etc. 
 

Page 5



 
 

 
 

7.8 Although the Trustees hold the land, Bradford Council has a process that is set out in 
its CAT Policy which is open and transparent, and approved by Executive for dealing with 
Community Asset Transfers. It is recommended that the Trustees follow this process but 
with the Trustees making the decisions not the Director of Corporate Services. 
 
 
8. LEGAL APPRAISAL (THE CITY SOLICTOR ACTING FOR THE COUNCIL AS 
TRUSTEES) 
 
8.1 Under Section 6 of the Trustees of Land and Appointment of Trustees Act 1996, the 
Trustees have the powers of an absolute owner in relation to any land. This therefore 
includes the power to sell or otherwise dispose of an interest in land. Section 8 provides 
that where, as in this case, land is subject to Charitable Trust, the power of disposal 
cannot be constrained by a provision in the original disposition.  
 
8.2 As required by the Charities Act 2011, a written report has been obtained from a 
qualified surveyor acting exclusively for the Trust. Subject to the Trustees being satisfied 
that the valuation represents the terms on which the disposition is proposed to be made 
are the best that can reasonably obtained for the charity, consent for the Charity 
Commission will not be required if it chooses to approve the sale on those terms.  
 
8.3 A long lease to a charitable community group is a disposal but a disposal charity to 
charity is permitted provided the Trustees are satisfied that this is beneficial and is 
therefore exempt from Section 117 of the Charities Act 2011 and does not re quire the 
Charity Commission to create a Scheme.  
 
8.4 As required by the Charities Act 2011 and the Local Government Act 1972, notice of 
the proposed sale will have to be advertised in the local press.  
 
8.5 The Trustees must consider any representations made and take them into account in 
reaching their decision.  
 
9. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 
None. 
 
9.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None.  
 
9.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 
None.  
 
9.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Bringing the facility back into use either through the disposal of the property and 
reinvesting into a suitable facility or by restoring the present building would resolve the 
ongoing issues and dangers associated with a building in disrepair.  
 
 

Page 6



 
 

 
 

9.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 
None.  
 
9.6 TRADE UNION 
 
None.  
 
 
9.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 
Ward members have been consulted. 
 
10. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 
Appendix 1 – An independent valuation report dated 3 July 2018. 
Appendix 2 – Rooted in Business Plan 
 
11. RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1 The premises are in disrepair, if the Trustees support Rooted In’s proposals, it is not 
unreasonable to wait until Rooted In develop their scheme further and make applications 
for funding if they take over day-to-day responsibility for the premises on temporary basis 
thus avoiding expense of opening the building for surveys etc. 
 
11.2 Option 3 is recommended provided that: 
 

i. Heads of Terms are agreed. 
ii. Rooted In take over temporary responsibility for the building on an Interim Lease of 

up to four years. 
iii. The Trustees and Rooted In enter into an agreement for a long lease. 
iv. A long lease is prepared and will be completed provided the terms of the 

agreement for lease are met. 
v. A co-terminus Service Level Agreement is entered into to ensure Rooted In 

manage the premises in a way that continues to support the Trust. 
vi. Updates are brought back to the Trustees every 2 years on how the scheme works 

and how charitable objectives are being met. 
 
12. APPENDICES 
  
Appendix 3 – HMLR Title and HMLR Title Plan  
Appendix 4 – Site Plan including allotments edged in red 
 
 
13. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Appendix 5 – Report to the Regulatory and Appeals Committee (sitting as Trustees) on 4 
October 2018.  
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER 
 

Business Plan Template 
 

This template1 is provided for guidance only; feel free to change and rearrange the sections 
and headings to suit the needs of your organisation. 
 
This template focuses on: 

1. Operational plan, particularly the cashflow 
2. Marketing Plan including SWOT Analysis 
3. Risk Analysis 

Other sections that would normally form part of a standard business plan are covered in 
Stage 2 application form. 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                           
1
 Information in this template is based on various sources including NCVO at knowhownonprofit.org and 

Bradford Council’s Toolkit for Community Organisations.  
 

Page 15



Blank page 

 

 

  

Page 16



 

 

 

 
 

BUSINESS PLAN 2019 TO 2024 

 

Rooted In – The Old Library 

 

  

Page 17



1. Operational plan 

Since October 2018 we have informed in excess of 1700 individuals about The Old Library making 

them aware of the history, current situation and potential future options. We have also consulted 

with a local architect firm (Rance Booth & Smith), construction firm (Brierstone Ltd) and CABAD to 

consider potential options and avenues for this site. 

Our plan will see a landmark building brought back to life after decades of neglect and damage. A 

renovation of the existing building meeting current minimum building regulations and energy 

performance would produce a building with 107m2 over 2 floors at a cost of £195,000. Our hope is 

this landmark project will signify that Allerton is a thriving community, one with aspiration, creativity 

and opportunity. 

Understanding the heritage of the site, our community and the need for clear vision and aspiration 

will be key to the long term viability and success of this site. 

The existing building and land was bequeathed by Cllr Angus Rhodes and is held under a charitable 

trust under the trusteeship of Bradford council. Conditions were placed on the future use of the site, 

however there was an acknowledgement of the limited life span of the building. Cllr Rhodes stated 

the building could be replaced so long as he intended purpose of the site is maintained. 

Whilst the building was converted and bequeathed as a library and reading room, with shifts in 

technology and society, to expect this building to returned to those original purposes, whilst 

romantic is somewhat impractical and provides no opportunity for income generation or long term 

sustainability. 

Our understanding is, Cllr Rhodes, understood the importance of education and opportunity for the 

people of Allerton. With this understanding and our charities vision to help create a progressive, 

thriving and self-sustaining community, we have developed alongside the community a plan for a 

multi-use facility. 

First and foremost, this facility is about the people of Allerton, it will provide spaces and 

opportunities identified by the community that are not being met through existing services and 

facilities. Secondly, we believe this plot of land is of strategic importance to our community, it is the 

welcome, introduction and gateway to our community passed by thousands of people each day. 

Currently, this site speaks of decay, neglect, abandonment and no hope. 

The plan for the building involves the ground floor being a commercial bakery social enterprise 

following our established model with The Sugar Snap Kitchen, an event catering and coffee shop 

business providing training, work experience and support into long term employment. The first floor 

will be offices for project support and community development space for our charity Rooted In. 

Alongside our office space we will create co-working/hot-desking space to provide an incubator 

environment for local start up business’ and other voluntary led groups.  

As an organisation we have a significant track record in delivery of varied and effective projects and 

activities. We also have the proven ability to raise finance on this scale. Furthermore, we have the 

vision and long term strategy to bring a project as ambitious as this to successful fruition. 

 

Page 18



1.1 Initial set up costs  

 

Currently, the building is structurally unstable with significant decay to walls, floors and roof. A 

Bradford Council Building Condition Survey from 2003 states the perilous condition of the building, 

further reports from 2010 record further degradation and indicate no improvements or maintenance 

took place in that time period. 

Before the building can be renovated a fully costed and detailed engineers/architects plan will need 

producing and submitting for planning permission. Once this has been achieved it will enable our 

organisation to start applying for capital and revenue funding to oversee and deliver this project. 

However, until we have planning permission, opportunities for funding are restricted. 

To meet the initial design and planning costs, we are looking to local firms who are willing to provide 

pro bono services whilst identifying trusts and grant givers who are open to providing early stage 

seed funding. We recently secured a Co-op youth grant to engage with local youth to explore their 

ideas and hold community consultations about the potential of this site. This has enabled us to 

compile significant feedback from the community as well as identifying a number of key individuals 

and businesses that have expressed a desire to donate their service for the community. 

Phase 1: Readying for investment 

 Legal structure changed from charity to CIO 

 Secure short term funding to create organisational capacity to oversee initial stage 

 Identify potential capital grants/donor supporters 

Phase2: Concept development, planning application submission and fundraising 

 Using secured funds develop a brief with community consultations and present to architects 

for tender 

 Select architect and develop final concept for planning application 

 Apply to potential funders with approved building plans and projects 

Phase 4: Pre-build 

 Identify local contractors and issue tender documents 

 With architect’s firm, select suitable contractors 

Phase 5: Build 

 Engage with local contractors identifying work experience opportunities for local residents 

We anticipate Phases 1-5 will take 18 months 

1.2 Annual running costs 

The below costs are based on other comparable community spaces, advice from consultants and 

quotes from providers. The financial projects below are based on us securing capital to cover 100% 

of the renovation costs (ie no debt repayments).  

 

Page 19



5 Year Revenue Forecast 
 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Ground floor 
commercial premises   6000 6180 6365 

First floor anchor tenant 
offices   6000 6180 6365 

First floor start up 
incubator rent   1800 1854 1910 

Local organisation 
subscriptions   960 989 1018 

Fundraising for 
preparatory revenue 
costs 9500 8000    

 

5 Year Expenditure Forecast 
 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Wages & Salaries 3000 5000 3000 3090 3183 

Rates   3200 3296 3395 

Insurance 1500 1500 1100 1133 1167 

Light & Heat   2000 2060 2122 

Cleaning   800 824 849 

Repairs & maintenance   600 618 637 

Telephone & Internet   500 515 530 

Marketing 500  1200 1236 1273 

Equipment   1000 1030 1061 

Professional fees 4500 1500    

 

Operational summary Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Revenue 9500 8000 14760 15203 15659 

Expenditure 9500 8000 13400 13802 14216 

Balance 0 0 1360 1401 1443 

 

  

Page 20



Incoming capital 
 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Fundraising for the 
build capital 70000 125000 

   

Subtotal  

Capital expenditure  
 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

      

Subtotal  

Capital summary Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Balance 0 195000    

 

To secure the capital funding for this grant we have identified the following grant givers/trust funds. 

Saffron Dean Community Association: They are custodians and distributors of capital from the sale 

of former council properties in the Allerton area. 

Big Lottery: Reaching Communities: Initial conversations have been positive, especially when we 

expressed our desire for partnership working with Lower Grange community Centre and with the 

development of the property being a community led initiative. There would be a heavier weighting 

towards revenue funding through this fund 

Heritage Lottery: Due to the age, location, provenance and history of the building, we are eligible to 

apply for capital funding. 

WREN: Capital renovation funds towards the ground floor commercial bakery space. 

Local fundraising: To further embed this project in the heart of the community we will be looking to 

our volunteer committee of local residents to spear head a wide range of local awareness and 

fundraising activities. We will look to the community raising at least 10% of all costs associated with 

bringing this site back into use. 

 

1.3 Insurance 

Liability insurance doesn’t currently cover any buildings as the charity doesn’t hold any lease or 

freeholds.  However, we have existing public liability insurance that covers all existing activities of 

the charity.  

Should the charity secure this building, we will look to take out an entirely new policy to cover all 

aspects of the renovation work. This policy will be reviewed annually or when significant changes 

take place that would require immediate notification to our insurance provider. 

 

 

Page 21



2. Marketing (if appropriate) 

2.1 Marketing strategy 

Our marketing plan will aim to engage and inform as wide a cross section of the community as 

possible to the changes and developments happening. We want to provide ample time for anyone 

with an opinion or contribution to feel they have been given the chance to input or join us. 

This awareness and community involvement strategy will be developed and delivered by our Old 

Library committee, currently made up of 9 adults and youth. We will heavily utilise social media 

growing our existing facebook page content. Further advertising will be site banners/hoarding as and 

when appropriate.  

At key points during the design and consultation process we will host open meetings, these will be 

promoted by our charities existing networks, through local schools, SMS service and social media. 

 

  

Page 22



3. Business analysis 

Strengths 
What you’re good at and 
why people choose or 
trust you over others 

Weaknesses 
Areas where you’re not 
as strong or things that 
you find it hard to keep 
on top of 

Opportunities 
Key opportunities to 
improve and grow your 
project. 

Threats 
Anything that could 
damage your business or 
reputation, or give your 
competitors an 
advantage. 

Community focused 

Good connections 
with the community 
and a good 
understanding of their 
needs and issues 

Been here for many 
years, have a proven 
track record of 
working with the 
community 

Quick to evolve to the 
changing needs of the 
community 

Strong leadership 
team 

Dynamic, energetic 
team of staff 

Strategic 
organisational plans 

Clear, documented 
view of our purpose 
within the community 

Committed team of 
volunteers 

Proven track record in 
developing a 
successful community 
driven social 
enterprise which is 
now offering 
volunteer work 
experience for people 
from Allerton 

Proven record of 
securing grants and 
finance. 

Online presence and 
public marketing 

 
Lack of experience in 
running our own 
building. 
 
 

Project fits our 
strategic plans 

Offer more 
volunteering 
opportunities 

Offer work experience 

Create a fit for 
purpose building for 
the community 

Create a landmark 
building that Allerton 
can be proud of which 
is visible to passing 
commuters 

Help create a positive 
view of Allerton 

Attract income from 
outside of Allerton 

Support new, small 
businesses by offering 
affordable hot desking 
and office space 

Create an energy 
efficient building 

To generate 
income/profit which is 
invested back in to 
community led 
activities run by 
Rooted In 

 

Finance, competition 
is high for grants and 
capital support. 

Public complaint, a 
diverse range of 
opinions and 
suggestions have been 
voiced. Creating one 
way forward may 
leave some feeling 
alienated 

Page 23



4. Risk analysis 

 

 

Risk Likelihood Impact Mitigation tactics 

Governance risk e.g. 
conflicts of interest, 
failure of leadership 

Low Medium  

Public complaint or 
bad press 

Low Medium  

Financial risks e.g. loss 
of income source 

Medium High Design in low running 
costs.  Have a diverse 
range of income.  
Overall running costs 
are kept low. 

Operational e.g. loss 
of key staff, poor 
support 

Low Medium Ensure no key man 
dependencies.  
Building will be 
trustee managed.  
Policies and 
procedures ensure 
continuation in the 
event of staff changes.   

Failure to deliver on 
services 

Low High Closely monitor 
projects and measure 
outcomes 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



The electronic official copy of the register follows this message.

Please note that this is the only official copy we will issue.  We will not issue a
paper official copy.

Page 25



Title number WYK919953 Edition date 20.05.2010

– This official copy shows the entries on the register of title on
03 OCT 2017 at 09:25:22.

– This date must be quoted as the "search from date" in any
official search application based on this copy.

– The date at the beginning of an entry is the date on which
the entry was made in the register.

– Issued on 03 Oct 2017.
– Under s.67 of the Land Registration Act 2002, this copy is

admissible in evidence to the same extent as the original.
– This title is dealt with by HM Land Registry, Nottingham

Office.

A: Property Register
This register describes the land and estate comprised in the title.
WEST YORKSHIRE : BRADFORD

1 (20.05.2010) The Freehold land shown edged with red on the plan of the
above title filed at the Registry and being Land at Allerton Road,
Allerton, Bradford.

B: Proprietorship Register
This register specifies the class of title and identifies the owner. It contains
any entries that affect the right of disposal.

Title absolute
1 (20.05.2010) PROPRIETOR: CITY OF BRADFORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT COUNCIL

of City Hall, Bradford, West Yorkshire BD1 1HY.

End of register

1 of 1Page 26



These are the notes referred to on the following official copy

The electronic official copy of the title plan follows this message.

Please note that this is the only official copy we will issue.  We will not issue a paper official copy.

This official copy was delivered electronically and when printed will not be to scale.  You can obtain a paper
official copy by ordering one from HM Land Registry.

This official copy is issued on 03 October 2017 shows the state of this title plan on 03 October 2017 at
09:28:49. It is admissible in evidence to the same extent as the original (s.67 Land Registration Act 2002).
This title plan shows the general position, not the exact line, of the boundaries. It may be subject to distortions
in scale. Measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements between the same points on the
ground.
This title is dealt with by the HM Land Registry, Nottingham Office .

Page 27



This official copy is incomplete without the preceding notes page.Page 28



ALLERTON ROAD

ALLERTON ROAD

C
H

A
P

E
L  L A

N
E

GREENBANK ROAD

195.1m

Church

PH

Methodist

194.2m

234

236

242

240

238

203

9

10

4

LB

205

207

10

4

1/500@A4 04-07-2019 DCB KCA-005-033SE1234

APROX AREA OF

USE ONLY ORIGINAL PRINTED PAPER COPIES - ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED COPIES WILL NOT BE TO SCALE THUS FOR ID ONLY - DO NOT REDUCE OR SCAN!

10 0 10 20 30 40 50 60 705

Meters

FOR IDENTIFICATION ONLY

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
Report of the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources 
to the meeting of the Regulatory and Appeals 
Committee (sitting as Trustees) to be held on 4

 
October 

2018 

AB  
 
 

Subject:   
 
Former Allerton Library, 2-4 Greenbank Road, Allerton, Bradford, BD15 
7RH 
 

Summary statement: 
 
The former Allerton Library at 2-4 Greenbank Road, Allerton, Bradford is held by the 
Council as Trustees.   
 
The Trustees  approval  is requested to the proposed disposal of the building. 
 
The Trustees  are also asked to give consideration to an application to use the 
property by Kidz Club Allerton. 
 
 
 

 
 

Joanne Hyde 
Strategic Director Department of 
Corporate Resources 
 

Portfolio:  Leader of Council and  Corporate  
 

Report Contact:  Alistair Russell 
Estates & Property Manager 
Phone: (01274) 437367 
E-mail: 
alistair.russell@bradford.gov.uk  

  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4/

Page 31



 

 
 
1.0 SUMMARY 
 
 

1.1 This report covers a request for the sale of the former Allerton Library at 2-4 
Greenbank Road, Allerton, Bradford BD15 7RH.  This building is owned by a 
Trust of which the Council is Sole Trustee. 

 
1.2 The terms of the Trust are set out in a conveyance dated 20 June 1916 

between Angus Hardy Rhodes of Lower Grange, Allerton, Bradford. The 
Committee has delegated authority to act on behalf of the Council as 
Trustee.  This is, in line with Charity Commission guidance, to provide a 
separation between the Council's statutory functions and its role as Trustee.   

 
1.3 The charitable trust is not registered with the Charity Commissioners (the 

Commissioners). 
 

1.4 The building’s use as a library ceased in August 2005 and it has been empty 
since.  It is in a poor state of repair and an early disposal is recommended. 

 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 In 1916 Councillor Angus Hardy Rhodes offered the City of Bradford the 
building, originally two cottages.  He paid for the alteration necessary for 
adapting it for library and reading room purposes and it was opened on 8 
July 1916 by the then Lord Mayor of Bradford. 

 
2.2 As a library it was well used, but no longer provided a flexible space to meet 

the needs of a library in the 21st century.  The reading room upstairs was 
closed down in the late 1980s and the space downstairs was inadequate for 
library purposes.  Its location on a busy road and considerable access 
problems required the service to locate to a new site more adaptable to 
service requirements.   

 
2.3 The Culture and Tourism Service, which manages the library on behalf of the 

Trustees, has declared it surplus to their operational requirements.  As such 
they are requesting that the Trustees agree to the sale of the building and 
the capital receipt will revert to the Trust. 

 
2.4 The property became vested in the Council on 1 April 1974 by virtue of the 

Local Government Act 1972.  The Council’s ownership of the former library 
and attached land as trustees is as shown in its register title and plan (see 
Appendix 1). 

 
2.5 A number of complaints have been received recently about the condition and 

deterioration of the former library and officers are concerned that given the 
lack of resources the building will continue to deteriorate.  The deterioration 
of the building is due to a number of factors, amongst others that the building 
has stood unoccupied since 2005 and that it has been the subject of several 
road traffic incidents.  

 Page 2

Page 32



 

 
 
 
 
2.6 In June 2018 in anticipation of the proposed sale of the building and 

adjoining land the Council’s Estate Management Section instructed a local 
Chartered Surveyor, to prepare an independent valuation report on behalf of 
the trustees.  An extract of that report is dated 3 July 2018 and is attached as 
Not for Publication Appendix 3.   

 
2.7 It is proposed that the Council as trustees authorise disposal of the property. 

 
3.0 THE REQUEST 
 

3.1 This report covers a request for the sale of the former Allerton Library at 2-4 
Greenbank Road, Allerton, Bradford BD15 7RH. 

 
3.2 The former Allerton Library and adjoining land amounts to 97 square metres 

or thereabouts.  Attached as Appendix 2 is a plan showing the extent of the 
property subject to the sale. 

 
3.3 The building was last occupied in August 2005.  In its present condition it is 

in an uninhabitable condition without serious investment. 
 

3.4 The independent valuation has indicated a guide sale price less professional 
fees for this building and land.  The net funds remaining would be ring fenced 
to the charity to be used for capital projects delivering the aims and 
objectives of the charity. 

 
4.0  OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
 4.1  An application has been received from Kidz Klub Allerton to use the property. 
  While the application has been received as a Community Asset Transfer it is  
  recognised that as the property is held in Trust that it could only be used at 
  the discretion of the Trust under a Service Level Agreement.   
 
 4.2 Kidz Club Allerton is a local charity.  The aim of the organisation is to  
  transform the community by elevating expectations, increasing opportunities 
  and transforming attitudes by working with children, young people, families 
  and marginalised vulnerable individuals.  They work by building relationships, 
  understanding the needs of the community and looking to them to build a  
  solution with them. 
 
  They believe that the success of the individuals and the wider community lie 
  within.  They are placed within the community to help people find their  
  identity and purpose, then provide the support, encouragement and  
  opportunities. They help them build the future they want rather than being  
  defined by where they live, their perceived lack of experiences.  
 
  A copy of the Stage 1 Community Transfer Application is attached as Not for 
  Publication Appendix 4. If this might be of interest to the Trust the CAT  
  application will need to be revised as a business plan. Page 3

Page 33



 

 
  

4.3 Kidz Club Allerton have not provided a business plan for use of the property 
  to include funding which will include full refurbishment of the property.  
 
 4.4 No consideration has been given that such a use complies with the   
  objectives of the Trust. 
 
5.0  LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 

5.1 Under Section 6 of the Trustees of Land and Appointment of Trustees Act 
1996, the Trustees have the powers of an absolute owner in relation to any 
land.  This therefore includes the power to sell or otherwise dispose of an 
interest in the land.  Section 8 provides that where, as in this case, land is 
subject to a Charitable Trust the power of disposal cannot be constrained by 
a provision in the original disposition. 

 
5.2 As required by the Charities Act 2011 a written report has been obtained 

from a qualified surveyor acting exclusively for the trust.   Subject to the 
Committee, acting as Trustee, being satisfied that the valuation represents 
the best price reasonably obtainable, consent of the Charity Commission will 
not be required if it chooses to approve the sale on those terms. 

 
5.3 As required by the Charities Act 2011 and the Local Government Act 1972 

notice of the proposed sale will have to be advertised in the local press.  
 

5.4 The Committee as Trustee must consider the representations made and take 
them into account in reaching its decision. 

 
6.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 

6.1 An independent valuation of the land has been undertaken on behalf of the 
Trustees in line with the Charity Commission requirements. A copy of the 
report is appended as Not for Publication Appendix 3.  

 
 
7.0 RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 

7.1 As indicated above, the Committee acting as Trustee will need to be satisfied 
that the price payable is the best that can reasonably be obtained as 
suggested by the view of the independent surveyor. 

 
7.2 In addition the Committee must consider the proposal in terms of what is in 

the best interests of the charity.  Charity Commission Guidance advises that 
this means;  

 
"Acting in the charity’s best interest’s means always doing what the Trustees 
decide will best enable the charity to carry out its purposes, both now and for 
the future." 

  
 
 Page 4

Page 34



 

 
7.3 The Charity Commission have advised that based on their consideration of 

  the terms of the trust contained in the 1916 conveyance they are of the view 
  that the proceeds of disposal of the land would constitute permanent  
  endowment to be held for the education/recreational benefit of the   
  inhabitants of the area. 
 
8.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
   

8.1 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 
 
  None 
 

8.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

None. 
 

8.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 

None. 
 
8.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

 
The disposal of the property would facilitate the building being brought back 
into use, thereby resolving the on-going issues and dangers associated with 
a building in disrepair. 

 
8.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 

 
  None 
 

8.6 TRADE UNION 
 
  None 
 

8.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 

The disposal of the property will facilitate the site being brought back into use 
which will benefit the amenity of the immediate area.   

 
 8.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING 
  

None 
 
 8.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

None 
 
  
 
 Page 5

Page 35



 

 
9.0 NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 

Appendix 3: Independent Valuation 
Appendix 4: CAT Application 

 
Not for publication (NFP) under Paragraph 5 (Legal Privilege) of Schedule 12A 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and it is considered that, in all the 
circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information for the following reason: it is in the overriding 
interests of proper administration that the Trustees are made fully aware of the legal 
implications of any decision without the risk of prejudice to the Council’s case in any 
future legal proceedings. 

 
 
10.0 OPTIONS 
 

10.1   To advertise the sale of the building and adjoining land and, subject to no 
objections being received, sell it through the Council’s sale of assets process 
at auction and reinvest the proceeds in the locality.  Should objections be 
received, the Committee may need to reconsider its decision to dispose of 
the property in the light of such objections. 

 
10.2 To refuse the sale of the property and associated land at this time. 
 

 
11.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1 That consideration is given to the application by Kidz Club Allerton and that 
in doing so the use complies with the objectives of the Trust. 

 

2 That the Strategic Director of Corporate Resources be authorised to 
advertise the sale of  the former Allerton Library at 2-4 Greenbank Road, 
Allerton, Bradford BD15 7RH and, subject to no objections being received, to 
make the necessary arrangements to sell the property at auction and the 
money to revert to the Trust. 

 

3 That, should objections to the sale be received, the Strategic Director of 
Corporate Resources submits a further report to this Committee for 
consideration. 

 
12.0 APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1:  The registered title and plan and transcript of Trust document. 
Appendix 2:  Plan showing the area requested to be sold. 
Appendix 3:  An extract of the Independent Valuation (Not for Publication, Paragraph 5 
(Legal Privilege of the Local Government Act 1972) 
Appendix 4: CAT Application (Not for Publication, Paragraph 5 (Legal Privilege of the 
Local Government Act 1972) 
 
12.0 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

None Page 6

Page 36


	Agenda
	4 FORMER ALLERTON LIBRARY, 2-4 GREENBANK ROAD, ALLERTON, BRADFORD
	R&A18JulyDocHapp1
	R&A18JulyDocHapp2
	R&A18JulyDocHapp3ai
	R&A18JulyDocHapp3aii
	R&A18JulyDocHapp4
	R&A18JulyDocHapp5




